INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-ICA-64

ICA EFiled: May 22 2023 03:56PM EDT Transaction ID 70061742

MICHAEL RODGERS,

Petitioner,

v.

DOCKET NO. 23-ICA-64

(On Appeal from Circuit Court of Kanawha County, Civil Action No. 19-C-561)

JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

P. Gregory Haddad (WVSB #5834) John W. Barrett, Esq. (WVSB #7289) Kerrie W. Boyle (WVSB #9439) Sharon F. Iskra (WVSB #6582) **BAILEY GLASSER, LLP** 209 Capitol Street Charleston, West Virginia 25301 Tel. No. (304) 345-6555 Fax No. (304) 342-1110 ghaddad@baileyglasser.com jbarrett@baileyglasser.com kboyle@baileyglasser.com

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This case is about what a Kanawha County jury concluded was the reckless medical care that neurosurgeon John R. Orphanos provided to 49-year-old Michael Rodgers, which left Mr. Rodgers with permanent paraplegia, confined to a wheelchair, and unable to perform without assistance even the simplest tasks of eating, dressing, bathing, and basic self-care.

A West Virginia jury unanimously found that Defendant Dr. Orphanos acted with reckless disregard when he blindly conducted non-emergency surgery to repair a vertebral fracture without fully assessing Mr. Rodgers' condition, and without using the numerous surgical tools that would have allowed him to see, monitor, and protect the patient's spinal cord while working so dangerously close to it. Instead, without those essential surgical tools, Dr. Orphanos chose to conduct the surgery "blind to what's going on with the spinal cord," JA 3090, rendering Mr. Rodgers a permanent paraplegic.¹

After the first surgery, Dr. Orphanos realized his life-altering error and undertook a second surgery to try and correct it. But, for the second time, he did so without the requisite tools and technology that would have allowed him to find and reverse some of the damage he caused. Instead, he cemented the tragic outcome for Plaintiff Rodgers. The multiple surgeries and mistakes also left Mr. Rodgers with a host of other life-threatening medical problems—in addition to paraplegia—including a stroke that he barely survived. Plaintiff Rodgers is now mostly bedfast and has a life of complicated and expensive medical care ahead of him. For these reasons, the jury returned a unanimous verdict, finding Dr. Orphanos' "recklessness caused" Plaintiff's paraplegia and his subsequent stroke. The jury thus awarded Plaintiff nearly \$17.5 million. As part of that verdict, the jury awarded Plaintiff approximately \$1.3 million for the reasonable expenses of his

¹ References herein to the appendix record filed with this appeal brief include the prefix "JA."

past medical bills.

In post-trial proceedings, the circuit court, in addition to reducing the jury's noneconomic award to \$750,000, practically wiped out its award of past medical expenses, reducing it by more than \$1.1 million, because Mr. Rodgers had planned for or contributed to the very medical benefits that paid for his care from various collateral sources. In doing so, the circuit court failed to conduct the analysis required by West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a for payments from collateral sources, which clearly prohibits the reduction of the verdict. To compound that error, the circuit court gave Defendant Orphanos—whom the jury found was solely responsible for causing Plaintiff's paraplegia and stroke—the benefit of Mr. Rodgers' bargain by limiting Orphanos' liability by the amounts in excess of the benefits paid on behalf of Plaintiff by a collateral source. But that is exactly what the statute prohibits. W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9a(g)(2) ("The court may not reduce the verdict rendered by the trier of fact in any category of economic loss to reflect: ... [a]mounts in excess of benefits actually paid or to be paid on behalf of the plaintiff by a collateral source in a category of economic loss."). The trial court's ruling also contravenes clear guidance from the West Virginia Supreme Court and the long-recognized collateral source rule and must be reversed.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the circuit court erred by failing to conduct the required analysis under West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a when determining whether to reduce the jury's compensatory damages award for economic losses for payments from collateral sources?
- II. Whether the circuit court erred by crediting Dr. Orphanos and reducing the jury's verdict award for Plaintiff's past medical bills based on contractual insurance benefits when West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a(g)(2) prohibits the court from "reduc[ing] the verdict rendered by the trier of fact in any category of economic loss to reflect: ...[a]mounts in excess of benefits actually paid or to be paid on behalf of the plaintiff by a collateral source in a category of economic loss"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual Background

On June 4, 2017, Plaintiff Michael Rodgers, then 49 years old, was injured in a motorcycle accident and transported to Charleston Area Medical Center ("CAMC") in Charleston, West Virginia. JA 3052. Emergency physicians at CAMC performed a CT scan of Plaintiff's chest, which revealed a T5 Chance fracture. Basically, a Chance fracture affects at least two of the three columns that comprise the vertebrae. JA 3059-60. Eventually, Defendant Dr. Orphanos, a neurosurgeon, was contacted for purposes of a neurosurgical consult.

Mr. Rodgers was first seen by a surrogate of Dr. Orphanos' practice at 11:30 a.m. on June 5. JA 3060. The surrogate assessed Mr. Rodgers, placed him on spinal precautions, and ordered a back brace—a conservative, nonsurgical treatment. JA 3189-90. Dr. Orphanos saw Mr. Rodgers that same afternoon. Mr. Rodgers' condition was stable and he was not presenting with any emergency—a fact confirmed repeatedly by Dr. Orphanos himself and ultimately by the jury. JA 3158-59, 3168, 3208. Notably, Dr. Orphanos' standard-of-care expert, Dr. Berkman, agreed this was "not an emergency surgery." JA 3858. Even the perioperative record reflected the fact that the surgery was being done on a nonemergent basis. JA 326.

Dr. Orphanos conceded it is critically important to gather as much information as possible before any kind of spinal surgery. JA 3153. As Mr. Rodgers' standard-of-care expert explained, "you want to cross every T and dot every I and give your patient the best chance for a good outcome." JA 3077. Nevertheless, Dr. Orphanos failed to perform some of the simplest information-gathering tasks. He did not even bother to read Mr. Rodgers' entire chart; instead, he chose to ignore over 40 hourly nursing notes. JA 3184-86. Furthermore, even though Dr. Orphanos claimed that his own, in-person assessment of the patient was his "gold standard," his assessment of Mr. Rodgers took barely 19 minutes. JA 3166-67. Notably, Dr. Orphanos' finding that Mr.

Rodgers was mentally competent to participate in his assessment directly contradicts every single nursing note and the notes written by ER staff—all of which documented the fact that Mr. Rodgers was confused, disoriented, or both. JA 3171, 3181-83.

More than that, the jury found Dr. Orphanos recklessly failed to obtain the testing necessary to ensure a safe and successful surgery. Before surgery, Dr. Orphanos did not order an MRI of the thoracic spine—where the fracture was located—relying instead on the earlier CT of the chest. Because it was a chest CT, it did not provide an assessment of the spinal cord itself. Furthermore, and especially important here, the CT only visualized the bony structures of the spine column, that being the vertebrae. Only an MRI was capable of visualizing the spinal cord and the soft tissues surrounding it. JA 3175-76. Dr. Orphanos' failure to order an MRI deprived him of valuable information necessary for managing the surgery, including maintaining the integrity of the spine and revealing the presence of edema, disc fragments, or other abnormalities. JA 3071-72, 3090. Dr. Orphanos had nearly 2 days between Mr. Rodgers' arrival at CAMC and the surgery itself to order an MRI.

Even more troubling, Defendant also failed to order and utilize intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring (IONM)—a machine which monitors and provides a real-time alert if the spinal cord is being compromised during spinal surgery. IONM causes no pain or ill effects; it is "all benefit[,] no risk." JA 2949-50. If the spinal cord is affected in any way during the course of surgery, it will trigger an IONM alert. Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Mark Weidenbaum, a spine surgeon practicing at Columbia University, testified that the use of IONM is required by the standard of care. JA 3090-91, 3096. Further, Dr. Feinberg, another of Plaintiff's experts from the University of Pennsylvania, testified that IONM is required by the standard of care for all complex spinal cases, and that Dr. Orphanos' failure to use IONM during Mr. Rodgers' spinal surgery was a

deviation from the standard of care. JA 2931, 2949-50.

At the time of the surgery, IONM was available to CAMC's surgeons. In fact, Dr. Orphanos admitted that he had used IONM during his residency and even during his years of private practice in Charleston. Put simply, there was nothing preventing Dr. Orphanos from using IONM during Mr. Rodgers' surgery. JA 3196-98. Dr. Orphanos made a choice—a reckless choice that prevented him from recognizing any problems until it was too late—to proceed with a complicated thoracic surgery "blind to what's going on with the spinal cord." JA 3090. Dr. Weidenbaum testified that if IONM had been used in Mr. Rodgers' case, it would have detected any signal loss during surgery, thus allowing Dr. Orphanos to identify and immediately reverse his missteps.

Because of these failures, Dr. Orphanos lacked the means to properly assess the potential dangers, localize the fracture site, and protect against any possible errors during surgery. Dr. Orphanos admitted that had IONM been used, it would have alerted him to signal loss during surgery indicating spinal cord compromise. JA 3198-99. Dr. Orphanos also admitted in his surgical report that he miscounted the vertebral bodies and, therefore, failed to place the screws where he intended. JA 3216-17. Because of this miscounting, Dr. Orphanos ended up placing the screws into the fractured vertebra itself. That, in turn, increased the risk there might be "some movement of the bony structure across the fracture." JA 3085. It was not until postoperative studies were done that Dr. Orphanos learned the screws were actually protruding outside of the vertebral body at the T5 level. Dr. Weidenbaum testified that one of the screws protruded medially—i.e., impacting the spinal cord—and that the misplaced screw was a contributing factor in causing Mr. Rodgers' paraplegia. JA 3106.

When Mr. Rodgers awoke, he lacked any sensation or motor functioning in his legs. It was admitted that in the two days prior to surgery, when Mr. Rodgers was an inpatient at CAMC, his neurological functioning was fully intact. JA 3067-68, 3167-68. As a result of the post-operative paraplegia, Dr. Orphanos decided to go back in and perform an exploratory surgery. JA 3106. Even at this point, there was still an opportunity to reverse Mr. Rodgers' paralysis. But once again Defendant recklessly failed to obtain the necessary testing. Specifically, he failed to order a CT myelogram after discovering Mr. Rodgers' paralysis. A CT myelogram was necessary because, unlike a CT, it allows the surgeon to visualize the spinal cord itself. Had a CT myelogram been performed, it would have revealed exactly where the spinal cord was compressed, enabling Defendant to decompress it. JA 3107-08, 3119-20. Without the benefit of those test results in hand, Dr. Orphanos was unable to find, let alone repair, the damage he caused to Mr. Rodgers' spinal cord.

Mr. Rodgers' paralysis was thus permanent, resulting in significantly limited mobility and lower body function. To compound his paraplegia, the surgery and lack of mobility created a host of new medical problems. Mr. Rodgers battled infections, bed sores, sepsis, and other serious health issues and ultimately suffered a stroke. The jury concluded that the medical records demonstrated Mr. Rodgers' paraplegia and the surgical errors proximately caused his stroke and other health complications. JA 1862, 3362-65²

II. Procedural History

This case was tried to a jury in March 2022. Responding to special interrogatories, the jury found that Dr. Orphanos was not only negligent, but also reckless. JA 1861. The jury also found by way of special interrogatory that the surgery was non-emergent. JA 1335. The jury further found

² Specifically, Plaintiff developed a bed sore which, in turn, became septic secondary to an infectious process. The bacteria migrated to the heart, then to the brain, resulting in Plaintiff's stroke. AR 872 et seq., 3362-63. Tragically, Plaintiff's stroke caused even more physical impairments and limitations. Instead of only being wheelchair-bound, Plaintiff is now largely bedfast, unable to perform the most basic activities of daily living. AR 3364-65.

that Dr. Orphanos' malpractice proximately caused Plaintiff's stroke in July 2020. JA 1337. The jury awarded damages in excess of \$17 million by verdict as follows.

Past expenses for care and treatment	\$1,374,079	
Lost earning capacity	\$591,166	
Future care, treatment, and renovations	\$6,511,940	
Past pain, suffering and loss of enjoyment of life	\$1,000,000	
Future pain, suffering and loss of enjoyment of life	\$1,500,000	
TOTAL	\$10,977,185	
With respect to Plaintiff's 2020 stroke:		
Additional care and treatment	\$1,793,690	
Future pain, suffering and loss of enjoyment of life	\$5,000,000	

For Plaintiff's paraplegia arising from the 2017 spinal surgery:

TOTAL
IVIAL

JA 1336-38.

Thereafter, Dr. Orphanos filed a motion seeking to reduce the verdict under the Medical Professional Liability Act, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-1 *et seq*. ("MPLA"). Specifically, he argued that Mr. Rodgers' recovery of past medical bills was governed by West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d, requiring the court to deduct any amounts beyond what was actually paid by Plaintiff or his insurers. Mr. Rodgers argued in response that the medical-bill issue was governed by West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a, not Section 9d, because the latter applies to the verdict itself and is akin to an evidentiary rule that applies only to trial proceedings. On the other hand, Section 9a governs post-trial proceedings for reducing a verdict for payments from collateral sources, and subsections

\$6,793,690

9a(g)(1) and (2) specifically prohibit any deductions from Mr. Rodgers' past medical bills. Separately, Dr. Orphanos asked the court to apply the noneconomic damages cap found in West Virginia Code § 55-7B-8.

On June 9, 2022, the trial court entered an order applying the cap and reducing the amount of Mr. Rodgers' noneconomic damages to \$750,000—effectively nullifying \$7.5 million of the jury's non-economic damage award. JA 1797-98. The court took the issues involving Mr. Rodgers' medical bills under advisement and requested supplemental briefing. After a further round of briefing and argument, the court entered an order on September 12, 2022, reducing the amount of Mr. Rodgers' past medical bills from \$1,374,079 to \$215,588.58. The court concluded that Section 9d applied, but provided no legal analysis. JA 1864-65. The court entered final judgment in the amount of \$9,862,384.58. JA 1865.

Mr. Rodgers then moved to alter or amend the judgment under Rule 59(e) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, again raising the issues involving the reduction of his medical bills under Section 9d and the application of the noneconomic damages cap. JA 2257, *et seq*. The court denied Plaintiff's motion on January 19, 2023, stating simply that it was "not inclined to change its prior rulings." JA 2432. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"The collateral source rule protects payments made to or benefits conferred upon an injured party from sources other than the tortfeasor by denying the tortfeasor any corresponding offset or credit against the injured party's damages." *Kenney v. Liston*, 233 W. Va. 620, 760 S.E.2d 434, 440 (2014). The rule's purpose is that "it is better for injured plaintiffs to receive the benefit of collateral sources in addition to actual damages than for defendants to be able to limit their liability for damages merely by the fortuitous presence of these sources." *Id.* at 445 (cleaned up). This rule is codified at West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a(g), which states in no uncertain terms that a court

evaluating the post-trial impact of collateral source payments on a jury's award of past medical expenses "may not reduce the verdict rendered by the trier of fact ... to reflect ... [a]mounts in excess of benefits actually paid or to be paid on behalf of the plaintiff by a collateral source[.]"

Yet that is precisely what the circuit court did, all but wiping out the jury's award to Plaintiff of \$1,374,079 for past medical bills by deducting \$1,158,490.42 in collateral source benefits received by the Plaintiff, all because the circuit court concluded, without explanation, that the posttrial collateral source analysis of Section 9a was not applicable. As explained below, (1) the circuit court was wrong to disregard the Section 9a framework, and (2) had the circuit court applied that framework, it would not have reduced the past medical bill award as it did. The Court should reverse these rulings and direct the circuit court to reinstate the Plaintiff's past medical expenses.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a), Petitioner respectfully requests Rule 19 oral argument. This Petition is appropriate for oral argument pursuant to Rule of Appellate Procedure 19(a) because it involves a narrow issue of law and a lower court's decision that is contrary to plain statutory language and settled West Virginia law. Specifically, the Petition seeks to resolve a misapplication of the MPLA and the collateral source rule. Because this Petition satisfies Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument is both necessary and appropriate.

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred by failing to conduct the analysis required under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9a.

When a jury awards a tort plaintiff damages for medical care, West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a provides the post-trial framework for deciding whether and how to reduce the award to account for the injured plaintiff's receipt of collateral source payments for medical care. Here,

based on collateral source payments and benefits received by Mr. Rodgers, the circuit court after trial reduced the jury's \$1,374,079 award of past medical expenses by \$1,158,490.42, but did not follow Section 9a's procedures. This legal error requires reversal of that reduction.

Section 9a is entitled "Reduction in compensatory damages for economic losses for payments from collateral sources for the same injury." Consistent with the title, its subsection (a) states, "[A] defendant who has been found liable for medical care ... may present to the court, after the trier of fact has rendered a verdict, but before entry of judgment, evidence of payments the plaintiff has received for the same injury from collateral sources." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9a(a). The remaining sections lay out the math for adjusting the verdict. In broad strokes, Section 9a(b) allows the defendant to present evidence of future payments the plaintiff may receive; Section 9a(c) allows the plaintiff to present evidence of payments (e.g., insurance premiums) he or she has made to secure the benefits; Section 9a(d) outlines the required findings of fact for the circuit court regarding the collateral sources; Section 9a(e) allows the plaintiff to receive credit for premiums paid to secure collateral source benefits; Section 9a(f) requires the circuit court to reduce the jury's award to account for certain collateral source benefits, but Section 9a(g)(2) disallows reductions for, inter alia, "amounts in excess of benefits actually paid ... on behalf of plaintiff by a collateral source"; and Section 9a(h) requires the circuit court to enter judgment reflecting the mathematical credits and reductions outlined in the other provisions.

Simply stated, the circuit court erred by failing to conduct this analysis. The circuit court instead found "that W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9a does not apply, and that W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9d" does. JA 1864. This was wrong. Section 9a is the method for determining the *post-trial* credits and reductions for collateral source payments, if any. Section 9d applies to "a *verdict* for medical expenses," and states that those *verdicts* consist of "the total amount of past medical expenses paid

by or on behalf of the plaintiff ... and "the total amount of past medical expenses incurred but not paid by or on behalf of the plaintiff[.]" W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9d. The purpose here is clear: Section 9d governs what a factfinder may consider in determining a medical expense award; Section 9a lays out the *post-trial* method of determining what "a defendant who has been found liable to the plaintiff for damages for medical care" must pay after accounting for credits and offsets attributable to collateral sources. W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9a(b). Put another way, Section 9d lays out what a jury may award for medical expenses; Section 9a details what a court must do after trial to reduce a medical expense award after trial.

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