## IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-ICA-64

IGA EFiled: Jul 06 2023 01:28PM EDT Transaction ID 70317194

MICHAEL RODGERS, *Plaintiff-Below, Petitioner*,

v.

JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D., *Defendant-Below, Respondent.* 

## RESPONDENT JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.'S RESPONSE BRIEF

# Counsel for Respondent, John R. Orphanos, M.D.

Thomas J. Hurney, Jr. (WV Bar No. 1833) Blair E. Wessels (WV Bar No. 13707) JACKSON KELLY PLLC Post Office Box 553 Charleston, West Virginia 25322 (304) 340-1000 thurney@jacksonkelly.com blair.wessels@jacksonkelly.com

Richard D. Jones (WV Bar No. 1927)
J. Dustin Dillard (WV Bar No. 9051)
FLAHERTY SENSABAUGH BONASSO, PLLC
200 Capitol Street

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

### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Professional Liability Act ("MPLA") to the jury's verdict by arguing that a different statute—West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a—applies. The parties do not disagree over the amount of Petitioner's past medical bills, or on the amount of the circuit court's reduction. Rather, the parties differ on whether the circuit court correctly reduced the jury's award for past medical care and treatment from \$1,374,079.00 to \$215,588.58. Dr. Orphanos asserts the circuit court correctly applied Section 9d to the verdict and appropriately deducted from each of Petitioner's medical bills the amounts never paid or amounts determined not to be payable.

Despite Petitioner's assertions, this appeal is not about collateral source benefits. Throughout his appeal, Petitioner conflates the evidentiary mandate for collateral sources—that the jury should not hear of collateral sources prior to rendering a verdict (which did not happen here)—with the rule's effect on damages, which is that any "windfall" from medical expenses not paid goes to the plaintiff. The latter is in play here. By enacting West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d, the Legislature clearly directed that only actual losses be awarded in MPLA cases.

West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a does not apply here. Section 9a addresses collateral sources—bills *paid* by third parties for the plaintiff—and permits reduction where the plaintiff was not damaged. But if any third party has a subrogation claim, no reduction is permitted. Make no mistake—no *payments* from collateral sources were ever reduced from this verdict. Dr. Orphanos never asked the circuit court to reduce the verdict by what was actually paid for Mr. Rodgers' medical treatment, which is why the amount of the bills actually paid remains in the Judgment Order. Regarding medical expenses not paid (the subject matter addressed by Section 9d), the best Petitioner can argue is that under Section 9a, any reduction should have been addressed pre-trial.

But this issue *was* addressed pre-trial and, further, none of the cases Petitioner relies on support this argument. And having benefitted from the use of the entirety of Mr. Rodgers' past medical expenses to drive the verdict, *i.e.*, introducing the full amount of the medical bills at trial and using a "pie chart" with those amounts to assert that Mr. Rodgers is entitled to a "gold standard" verdict, Petitioner cannot now change course. App. 3935, 3941.

The circuit court did not commit any errors—and certainly no clear errors—of law as it relates to applying West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d to the jury's verdict and reducing the amount of Petitioner's past medical expenses. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the circuit court's Judgment Order as it pertains to the reduction of medical bills under Section 9d.

## IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Although this Court could conclude that the interpretation of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d is an issue of first impression, Dr. Orphanos asserts that the circuit court acted within its discretion in applying the statute to undisputed evidence. As such, oral argument is not necessary to aid this Court in its decisional process, and the Court can resolve Petitioner's appeal by memorandum decision. If the Court determines oral argument is necessary, argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure is appropriate.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has consistently held that "[t]he standard of review applicable to an appeal from a motion to alter or amend a judgment, made pursuant to W. Va. R. Civ. P. 59(e), is the same standard that would apply to the underlying judgment upon which the motion is based and from which the appeal to this Court is filed." Syl. Pt. 1, *Wickland v. Am. Travellers Life Ins. Co.*, 204 W. Va. 430, 431, 513 S.E.2d 657, 658 (1998). The judgment

underlying Petitioner's Rule 59(e) motion was the circuit court's ruling granting, in part, Dr. Orphanos' *Motion to Reduce Verdict Consistent with the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act*, which was incorporated into the court's Judgment Order, dated September 12, 2022. App. 1860–66.

Petitioner's challenge to the circuit court's order is one of statutory interpretation, as Petitioner asserts that the circuit court misapplied West Virginia Code §§ 55-7B-9a and 9d in reducing the jury's verdict regarding past medical expenses. "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W. Va. 138, 139, 459 S.E.2d 415, 416 (1995).

# B. Petitioner Waived Certain Arguments on Appeal by Failing to Address Them in His Opening Brief.

In his Notice of Appeal, Petitioner asserted that the circuit court erred in applying West Virginia Code § 55-7B-8 to the verdict, which limited Petitioner's noneconomic damages award to \$750,000.00. Petitioner also claimed that West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d operates as a rule of evidence, making the statute "an unconstitutional invasion of the Supreme Court's rulemaking power under W. Va. Const. art. VIII, §1." Petr.'s Notice of Appeal, Transaction ID No. 69186928, at 8–9 (unpaginated). Neither of these arguments are included in Petitioner's brief. Because Petitioner did not assert these arguments in his opening brief, he has waived the right to further raise them on appeal. *See* Syl. Pt. 6, *Addair v. Bryant*, 168 W. Va. 306, 307, 284 S.E.2d 374, 376 (1981) ("Assignments of error that are not argued in the briefs on appeal may be deemed by this Court to be waived.").

# C. Petitioner's Appeal Should be Rejected under Either Judicial Estoppel or Invited Error, or Both.

Petitioner's appeal should be rejected because prior to trial, he moved *in limine* to prohibit the mention of collateral sources, and in response, Dr. Orphanos expressly reserved "the right to present evidence of insurance benefits, write offs, etc. to the Court, after the trial, consistent with W. Va. Code §55-7B-9a and §55-7B-9d." App. 1082. Petitioner did not contest that position, and with the motion *in limine* granted, proceeded to introduce the full medical bills (with no reference to what was paid or unpaid or by whom) into evidence, App. 3322–23, and then use them in closing to argue for a large damage award without "discount" as demonstrated by the "pie chart" exhibit. App. 3935, 3941, 1791–93.

Since Petitioner assented to Dr. Orphanos' reservation of rights and fully benefitted from the medical bills being introduced without limitation, he is barred here from arguing that Dr. Orphanos somehow waived reduction under Section 9d by failing to move to reduce the bills pretrial. Petitioner's change in position should be rejected under either the doctrine of judicial estoppel, *Bell v. Perkins*, No. 19-0019, 2021 WL 595415, at \*6 (W. Va. Feb. 16, 2021) ("This Court has recognized that 'a party is "generally prevent[ed] ... from prevailing in one phase of a case on an argument and then relying on a contradictory argument to prevail in another phase." . . . Petitioners now attempt to evade precisely the same fate which they successfully imposed upon two of the original devisees, which enlarged their interests in the subject property."), or invited error. *State v. Crabtree*, 198 W. Va. 620, 627, 482 S.E.2d 605, 612 (1996) (explaining that the "invited error" doctrine "is a branch of the doctrine of waiver which prevents a party from inducing an inappropriate or erroneous response and then later seeking to profit from that error").

# D. The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Applying West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d to the Jury's Verdict.

Petitioner misconstrues the interplay between the statutes governing the reduction of past medical expenses from a damages award. In different ways, both West Virginia Code §§ 55-7B-

9a and 9d address the award of phantom economic damages—those damages a plaintiff (or his insurer) either never paid, never will pay, or are paid by a third party without an obligation of repayment by the plaintiff. The common thread between the two statutes is that both limit a plaintiff's recovery to actual damages, but each applies in a different way.

Here, Petitioner asserts that the circuit court erred in concluding that West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a did not apply to the verdict, arguing that "Section 9a is the method for determining the post-trial credits and reductions for collateral source payments," and that Section 9d only "governs what a factfinder may consider in determining a medical expense award." Petr.'s Br. at 10–11. To reach this conclusion, Petitioner argues that Section 9d operates as an "evidentiary rule" that governs the admissibility of collateral source evidence at trial. Petr.'s Br. at 11. Petitioner's argument makes little sense when considering the actual statutory language for each provision, the legislative history of the MPLA, and case law interpreting these and other similar statutes.

# 1. West Virginia Code §§ 55-7B-9a and 9d address different scenarios governing the reduction of a verdict.

West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a, titled "Reduction in compensatory damages for economic losses for payments from collateral sources for the same injury," provides for the reduction of economic losses awarded by a jury in situations where those losses were *paid* by a collateral source on the plaintiff's behalf. But subsection (g) provides "[t]he court may not reduce the verdict rendered by the trier of fact in any category of economic loss to reflect," either "(1) Amounts paid to or on behalf of the plaintiff which the collateral source has a right to recover from the plaintiff through subrogation, lien or reimbursement," or "(2) Amounts in excess of benefits actually paid or to be paid on behalf of the plaintiff by a collateral source in a category of economic loss[.]"<sup>5</sup>

9

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Courts are also prohibited from reducing the verdict to reflect "(3) The proceeds of any individual disability or income replacement insurance paid for entirely by the plaintiff; (4) The assets of the plaintiff or the members of the plaintiff's immediate family; or (5) A settlement between the plaintiff and another

W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9a(g)(1)–(2). Based on this language, Section 9a addresses awards for past and future medical care which have been or will be paid by a collateral source that *does not have* a right of subrogation or reimbursement from the plaintiff. Notably, in the MPLA's definition of "collateral source," the statute expressly excludes from collateral source "any amount that a group, organization, partnership, corporation, or health care provider agrees to reduce, discount, or write off of a medical bill." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(b)(2).

West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d addresses an entirely different issue. Titled "Adjustment of verdict for past medical expenses," this statute provides that "A verdict for past medical expenses is limited to: (1) The total amount of past medical expenses paid by or on behalf of the plaintiff; and (2) The total amount of past medical expenses incurred but not paid by or on behalf of the plaintiff for which the plaintiff or another person on behalf of the plaintiff is obligated to pay." W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9d(1)–(2). Section 9d applies where verdicts reflect the entirety of a plaintiff's past medical expenses, but the verdict is then reduced to account for amounts that were never paid and will never be paid. Further, nothing in Section 9d requires this reduction to be done either pre- or post-trial; the statute simply mandates that recovery for past medical expenses is limited to what was actually paid.

# 2. West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a does not apply here because Dr. Orphanos is not seeking to reduce the jury's verdict to account for collateral sources.

Petitioner claims that the circuit court's decision should be reversed because the court did not follow the procedures in West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9a for "how to reduce the award to account for the injured plaintiff's receipt of collateral source payments for medical care." Petr.'s Br. at 9. Petitioner is correct that Section 9a addresses collateral source payments, as Section 9a establishes how courts address medical expenses a plaintiff either did not pay or will never pay

tortfeasor." W. Va. Code  $\S 55-7B-9a(g)(3)-(5)$ .

because the bills were paid by some other entity with no right to repayment in the event of a damages award.

But Dr. Orphanos is not seeking to reduce the damages award by payments made from collateral sources. Instead, Dr. Orphanos seeks to reduce Petitioner's verdict by accounting for the various write offs and discounts applied to Petitioner's medical bills, which are expressly covered by Section 9d. As explained in *Estate of Burns by & through Vance v. Cohen*, No. 5:18-CV-00888, 2020 WL 3271047, at \*1 (S.D.W. Va. June 17, 2020), "Section 55-7B-9d limits the verdict to amounts paid or owed; section 55-7B-9a correspondingly allows for a subsequent adjustment of the verdict for collateral source payments. The MPLA makes explicit that written off or adjusted medical expenses are not collateral source payments by excluding the former from the definition of the latter. *See* W. Va. Code § 55-7B-2(b)."

When interpreting similar statutes, other jurisdictions have recognized the distinction between collateral source payments and adjusting verdicts to account for medical expenses that were written off or forgiven. In *Smithers v. C & G Custom Module Hauling*, 172 F. Supp. 2d 765 (E.D. Va. 2000), the district court addressed the same concept:

Simply put, the issue to the Court is not whether the victim or the responsible defendant should benefit from any "windfall" that may occur from the practice of write-offs, but whether either party should benefit where there is clearly a distinction between the purpose of the traditional collateral source rule with regard to insurance coverage generally as it may benefit the victim (and should not act as a windfall to the defendant where the rule is intended to prevent a tortfeasor from avoiding an obligation to compensate just because the victim has insurance) and the situation involving write-offs in which the expenses are never incurred as the result of contractual arrangements between two third parties such as the hospital and the carrier.

*Id.* at 777 (emphasis added). Interpreting a similar statute, a Florida appellate court explained:

This alteration in the common law collateral source rule evinces the legislature's intent to prevent plaintiffs from receiving a windfall by being compensated twice for the same medical bills by both their insurance company and by the tortfeasor.

Our holding in this case likewise allows an injured party to receive compensation for medical expenses for which they have become liable, but does not permit the plaintiff to receive a windfall by recovering "phantom damages."

Coop. Leasing, Inc. v. Johnson, 872 So.2d 956, 959 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2004) (citing Goble v. Frohman, 848 So.2d 406 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003)); see also supra note 1 (discussing "phantom damages").

Here, Petitioner laments the circuit court's decision to reduce the jury's verdict for past medical expenses and treatment to \$215,588.58. But as demonstrated in Dr. Orphanos' motion to reduce the verdict and supplemental briefing on the motion, the evidence demonstrated without dispute that the majority of Petitioner's medical bills were written off or forgiven. *See* App. 1344–45 (chart of Petitioner's past medical bills noting the charged amount and the written off amount), App. 1352 (summary of medical bills exhibit introduced at trial), App. 1823–59 (providing supplemental records from additional health care providers demonstrating additional expenses written off). Because the medical bills demonstrate that these amounts have not and will never be paid, the circuit court correctly limited Petitioner's verdict to the amount of expenses actually paid.

# 3. Petitioner's argument that West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9d operates as an evidentiary rule is without merit.

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